DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

	CT OF COLL
S	* * *
	OF APPEN
	Clerk of the Court Received 12/25/2024 12:19 AM

24-0	CF-	18	4	

TIAQUANA CHANDLER,

Appellant

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Criminal Division 2023 CF3 1910

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Adrian E. Madsen, Esq. Bar No. 1032987 8705 Colesville Road, Suite 334 Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (202) 738-2051

Fax: (202) 688-7260 madsen.adrian.eric@gmail.com

D.C. App. R. 28(a)(2)(A) Statement

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial court's refusal to permit a voir dire of eyewitness Hanaa Joher, whom the defense learned for the first time during trial is diagnosed with mosaic Down syndrome and an intellectual disability, refusal to authorize issuance of a subpoena for Ms. Joher's records, and failure to take any steps to learn about the potential impact of the conditions on Ms. Joher's competency and credibility violated Ms. Joher's Sixth Amendment right to confront Ms. Joher.
- 2. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court's failures did not violate Ms. Joher's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, whether the trial court abused its discretion by failing to "inquir[e]... into the facts and circumstances relevant" to Ms. Joher's competency and credibility once "confronted by" the aforementioned "red flag[s]."
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by failing to order complainant Shawn Watts to submit to a drug screening where long pauses frequently preceded Mr. Watts' answers, some of which suggested difficulty understanding basic questions, where Mr. Watts slurred his words while testifying, and where Mr. Watts had a recent history of substance abuse, including PCP.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred by failing to grant Ms. Chandler's motion for judgment of acquittal ("MJOA") on Count Five, possession of a firearm during a crime of violence ("PFCV"), where the government conceded that Ms. Chandler

- did not possess the firearm and where there was no evidence that Ms. Chandler assisted an armed assailant in maintaining his possession of a firearm.
- 5. Whether the trial court incorrectly stated the law regarding the actus reus required for PFCV as an aider and an abettor by failing to instruct the jury that it must, in order to convict Ms. Chandler of PFCV, find that she helped the armed assailant maintain his possession of a firearm.
- 6. Whether the trial court erred by failing to grant Ms. Chandler's MJOA as to the while armed enhancement on Count Four, aggravated assault while armed ("AAWA"), where the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Chandler "knew in advance that [her] associate was armed with a gun," a point reinforced by the jury acquitting Ms. Chandler of solicitation of a assault with a dangerous weapon ("ADW").

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about March 30, 2023, Ms. Chandler was presented on a two-count complaint charging her with AAWA in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-404.01,¹-4502 and first-degree burglary in violation of D.C. Code § 22-801(a), both relating to

¹ The United States did not allege that Ms. Chandler personally possessed a firearm but rather than a person alleged to be her son did so. 11/6 Tr. 104. "Tr." refers to transcript by date of proceeding, all in 2023 unless otherwise indicated. "R [page number] (PDF)" refers to the record on appeal, with citations to the page number of the specific document as appropriate. "S.R. [page number] (PDF)" refers to the sealed, supplemental record on appeal.

R. 34-47. After Ms. Chandler rejected a plea offer extended by the United States,² and a grand jury returned an eight-count indictment,³ the case proceeded to trial on October 31, 2023.⁴

The government called eight witnesses: 1) Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") Officer Colleen O'Brien, who observed complainant Shawn Watts shortly after the shooting at issue in this case,⁵ 2) Hanaa Joher, a purported eyewitness who testified that she had been staying for about a week in an apartment outside of which the government alleged that Mr. Tucker shot the complainant,⁶ 3) Shawn Watts, the

² 5/22 Tr. 7-9.

³ R. 138-141. The grand jury charged Ms. Chandler with one count of conspiracy (along with Donnell Tucker, whose case, as discussed, *infra*, was ultimately severed from Ms. Chandler's) to commit ADW in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-405, -1805a, first-degree burglary while armed in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-801(a), -4502, PFCV in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(b) (with regard to the burglary), AAWA in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404.01, -4502, a second count of PFCV regarding Count Four, AAWA, assault with significant bodily injury while armed ("ASBIWA") in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404(a)(2), -4502, and soliciting a crime of violence (ADW) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2107(b). *Id.* An eighth count charged erstwhile co-defendant Donnell Tucker alone with threats to kidnap or injure a person in violation of D.C. Code § 22-1810. *Id.* at 141.

⁴ The court denied Ms. Chandler's motion to dismiss Count One of the indictment (conspiracy), 10/27 Tr. 12, denied Ms. Chandler's Fifth Amendment motion to suppress statements, 10/30 Tr. 31-33, granted in part and denied in part the United States' motion *in limine* to admit certain recorded jail calls, 10/30 Tr. 36-115, and granted erstwhile co-defendant Donnell Tucker's (2023 CF3 4300) motion to sever his case from Mrs. Chandler's case based on Mr. Tucker's intent to present exculpatory testimony from Ms. Chandler. 10/30 Tr. 141-44.

⁵ 10/31 Tr. 223-32.

⁶ 11/1 Tr. 20-67.

complainant regarding the assault-related offenses,⁷ 4) Antoinette Walker, a Department of Corrections custodian of records,⁸ 5) Tara Gross, a custodian of records for surveillance video footage from the apartment complex where the alleged offenses occurred,⁹ 6) MPD Detective Rodney Anderson, to whom Ms. Chandler made statements during a custodial interrogation,¹⁰ 7) Dr. James Debritz, the complainant's treating physician after the shooting,¹¹ and 8) MPD Detective Allison Binger, the lead detective for the case. 11/2 Tr. 14-60.

After the government rested and the court denied Ms. Chandler's motion for a judgment of acquittal ("MJOA"), the defense rested. 11/2 Tr. 66-74. Following a series of jury notes, ¹² the jury found Ms. Chandler guilty of Counts One (conspiracy to commit ADW), Four (AAWA), and Five (PFCV regarding Count Four), and not guilty of Counts Two (first-degree burglary), Three (PFCV regarding Count Two), Six (ASBIWA), and Seven (soliciting a crime of violence). R. 293-95 (PDF). On February 28, 2024, the court sentenced Ms. Chandler to an aggregate 72 months' incarceration. R. 320-24 (PDF). This timely appeal followed. R. 325-29.

-

⁷ 11/1 Tr. 70-106.

⁸ 11/1 Tr. 106-22.

⁹ 11/1 Tr. 122-30.

¹⁰ 11/1 Tr. 138-47.

¹¹ 11/2 Tr. 4-12.

¹² R. 286-92 (PDF).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 30, 2023, Ms. Chandler was presented on a two-count complaint alleging first-degree burglary and AAWA based on alleged events in the early morning hours of March 28, 2023. R. 37 (PDF). More specifically, the government alleged that after complainant Shawn Watts choked Ms. Chandler and later forced her out of an apartment rented by Darlene Green, Ms. Chandler returned to the apartment with her son, Donnell Tucker, where the two assaulted Mr. Watts, Ms. Chandler using her ringed finger and Mr. Tucker ultimately a firearm. R. 38-47.

Following preventive detention¹³ and Ms. Chandler's rejection of a plea offer,¹⁴ the case was set for trial, ultimately slightly beyond the 100-day window permitted by D.C. Code § 23-1322(h)(1). 5/30 Tr. 2-4. Shortly before the scheduled trial date, Ms. Chandler was released to home confinement due to the United States' desire to try Ms. Chandler with her son and alleged co-conspirator, Donnell Tucker, whose identity was known to the United States but for whom the United States did not seek an arrest warrant until after securing an indictment. 7/5 Tr. 15-18.

Pretrial Motions

After execution of the warrant for Mr. Tucker's arrest and joinder of Ms.

¹³ R. 48, 94-98 (PDF).

¹⁴ 5/22 Tr. 7-9.

Chandler's and Mr. Tucker's cases, trial was reset for October 30, 2023. Prior to trial, Ms. Chandler moved to suppress statements made to MPD detectives on the night of her arrest, ¹⁵ moved to sever her case from Mr. Tucker's case, ¹⁶ a motion later joined by Mr. Tucker, ¹⁷ and moved to dismiss Count One of the indictment for failure of proof. R. 185-92 (PDF). The United States opposed the motions ¹⁸ and additionally moved in limine to admit certain jail calls made during Ms. Chandler's earlier detention. R. 249-77. ¹⁹

On October 30, 2023, the court took testimony and heard argument regarding Ms. Chandler's motion to suppress statements (ultimately denied), both motions to sever (ultimately granted), and the United States' motion to admit certain jail calls (granted in part and denied in part).²⁰

Officer Colleen O'Brien

After severing cases,²¹ the parties proceeded to trial.²² The government first

¹⁵ R. 157-69 (PDF).

¹⁶ R. 170-84 (PDF).

¹⁷ 10/27 Tr. 9-10.

¹⁸ R. 193-248 (PDF).

¹⁹ Ms. Chandler earlier moved for the government to timely disclose and specify the jail calls it intended to admit at trial. R. 149-56 (PDF).

²⁰ Where nearly all the calls were placed by Ms. Chandler, rather than Mr. Tucker, and where the primary barrier to admissibility lay in the Confrontation Clause, severance rendered many of the trial court's ruling unnecessary.

²¹ Because the trial court's rulings on the motions are not implicated by this appeal, Ms. Chandler does not discuss them in greater detail.

²² Ms. Chandler does not raise any claims of error related to jury selection or composition in this appeal.

called MPD Officer Colleen O'Brien, who went to late on the evening of March 27, 2023, in response to a report of a shooting. 10/31 Tr. 222-24. Upon arrival, Officer O'Brien observed the complainant, Shawn Watts, "covered in blood, in a very awkward, unnatural-looking position, about halfway down the stairs in the hallway of the apartment building," with injuries to his head and leg, face, and head. 10/31 Tr. 225-26. Mr. Watts appeared to be "significantly" in pain because he was "screaming a lot." 10/31 Tr. 226-27. Emergency medical technicians arrived and transported Mr. Watts to an unspecified medical facility. 10/31 Tr. 230. Officer O'Brien did not observe the shooter or shooters or see a weapon while at the scene. 10/31 Tr. 231.

Hanaa Joher

The next day, prior to receiving any testimony, the government disclosed the following about its next intended witness, Hanaa Joher:

So this morning, I spoke with Hanaa Joher. This is Witness 2. She has been at a facility in Virginia for some time before today. And I actually did get clarity on exactly how long, but I spoke with staff at the facility as well.

They informed me of -- that Ms. Joher has been diagnosed with three things that I've disclosed to defense counsel: A form of Down syndrome, PTSD, and what was described as, I think, a borderline intellectual disability. I don't have any other information beyond that.

7

²³ Without objection, video footage from the body-worn camera of an officer accompanying Officer O'Brien and depicting these events was admitted and shown to the jury. 10/31 Tr. 227-28.

She is able to respond to my questions and understand them. Sometimes there's points of confusion, but I think we generally have been able to clear them up and present a coherent discussion. I've disclosed this to the defense out of an abundance of caution. They've asked me to get some follow-up information about how long she's going to be at the facility because there was also a mention of some sort of substance abuse -- substance issue in the past. But apparently she's been clean at least since she's been in the facility.

I'm happy to get that information for the defense.

11/1 Tr. 5-6.

Concerned about Ms. Joher's ability to competently testify based on the government's statements regarding her intellectual disabilities, Ms. Chandler requested the opportunity to voir dire Ms. Joher outside the presence of the jury, a request with which the trial court initially agreed. 11/1 Tr. 6-8.

After a pause in the proceedings to allow the United States to obtain additional information relevant to her diagnoses, for reasons unclear, the trial court indicated that it was "not sure that [its] initial instincts were correct." 11/1 Tr. 9. The government elaborated regarding the nature of the "facility," describing it as "a crisis facility," that "attempt[ed] to assist with her just being able to deal with the difficulties that she's been having with her life." 11/1 Tr. 9-10. Regarding Ms. Joher's diagnoses and intellectual functioning, the United States indicated that those "include[d] PTSD, mosaic Down syndrome," and "slight[] intellectual[] disab[ility]." 11/1 Tr. 10. The government averred that Ms. Joher was "high-

functioning," had "lived on her own," gave "intelligible" answers when testifying before the grand jury in this case, and "had memory loss before." 11/1 Tr. 11. Ms. Chandler reiterated her request to voir dire the witness to assess competency to testify based on her diagnoses of Down's syndrome and intellectual disability. 11/1 Tr. 12-13. Reversing its earlier ruling, the trial court denied Ms. Chandler's request to voir dire the witness and her alternative request to sign a subpoena for records from the "crisis rehabilitation facility." 11/1 Tr. 16-17.

When asked on direct examination whether she "ha[d]... lived in the DMV, Washington/Virginia/Maryland, area for some time," Ms. Joher responded, "no, I'm not living in DC," and when immediately asked to clarify whether she had lived "in this general area for some time," Ms. Joher responded, "[p]robably one week, two weeks." 11/1 Tr. 20. Seemingly sensing the confusing nature of Ms. Joher's responses, the United States then inquired regarding Ms. Joher's first language (Arabic), and asked that "if there [was] any sort of disconnects," or Ms. Joher "ha[d] any trouble understanding the questions that [the prosecutor] ask[ed] or something – f[ound] something confusing in the phrasing of the questions," that she "just let [the prosecutor] know." 11/1 Tr. 21.

Ms. Joher testified that she had known Mr. Watts for "three years" prior to trial and that she "kind of" had been in a "romantic relationship" with Mr. Watts at some point during the three years. Ms. Joher also knew "Darlene," whom Ms. Joher

described as "daughter of Uncle Jaime and Momma Lisa." 11/1 Tr. 21-22. When asked whether she knew if Mr. Watts knew Darlene, Ms. Joher responded, "I didn't know. But then when I come to her house, then I just, like — I got shocked, you know." 11/1 Tr. 23 (11-14). Ms. Joher testified that she first went to Darlene's apartment, doing so with Mr. Watts, on March 22, 2023, which she recalled because she "just want[ed] to be in her house, like, for some time, because [she] didn't have a place." 11/1 Tr. 23-24. When Ms. Joher then indicated that her "family took her" to Darlene's apartment, the government clarified that Ms. Joher went to Darlene's apartment with Mr. Watts. 11/1 Tr. 24. Ms. Joher testified that she knew Ms. Chandler, whom she knew as Tiaquana, whom she met through her "friend Darlene." 11/1 Tr. 25-26.

When asked who was present when she returned to Darlene's apartment on March 27, 2023, the night of the alleged offenses, Ms. Joher said that Tiaquana was present, leading to the following exchange between Ms. Joher and the prosecutor, given Ms. Joher's earlier contrary testimony:

Now, I just want to be clear. The question I asked you specifically, about when you first got to Darlene's house at 8:30 at night. I think you said just now that Tiaquana was there at that time. Do you recall saying earlier that Tiaquana was not at the apartment at that point in time? A No. She was at the apartment in Darlene house.

Q Okay. Was -- I want to know, to the best of your recollection, was Tiaquana already at the house as soon as you got home, or did she --

A Yes.

Q -- she come to the house later?

A Uh-huh.

Q Okay.

A As soon as I got home, I saw her.

Q Okay. And when we were speaking immediately before, do you recall telling me that she didn't – Tiaquana didn't come to the apartment until some time later?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So you recall telling me that.

A Uh-huh.

Q But your testimony now is that she was already at the house?

A Yes.

Q Do you understand the difference between those two things?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And so to the best of your memory right now, just for the clarity of the record, your memory is that Tiaquana was already at the house?

A Yes.

11/1 Tr. 27-28.

According to Ms. Joher, "everybody" in the apartment on March 27, 2023, "was drinking beers and chilling and, you know, doing drugs and stuff," with Ms. Joher only consuming alcohol, Mr. Watts using "PCP, Molly, Tina[,] [and] marijuana," and Ms. Chandler using "PCP, Molly, and the liquid for the PCP." 11/1 Tr. 29-30. Ms. Chandler and Mr. Watts had an argument in which Ms. Joher indicated both struck one another and Mr. Watts "throw the cup of the ice to the wall, and he just take off her wig, basically, yes[,]... then he got her out of the apartment." 11/1 Tr. 30-31. After the argument, only Ms. Joher, "Shawn [Watts], Darlene, and the kids" remained in the apartment, with Darlene asleep in a bedroom. 11/1 Tr. 32-33. When

asked what part of the apartment she was in at that time, Ms. Joher answered "In Darlene apartment" before answering "in the living room" after asked the same question again. 11/1 Tr. 34.

Shortly thereafter, Ms. Chandler and her son, whom Ms. Joher knew as Donnell,²⁴ knocked at the door. 11/1 Tr. 34-35. When later asked about the positioning of the two outside the apartment door, Ms. Joher indicated that Ms. Chandler, who was not wearing a mask, "was standing in front of her son," who was wearing a mask and had a gun in his hand. 11/1 Tr. 37-38, 67. According to Ms. Joher, Donnell "twisted the [apartment] door[,]... slammed it on [her] on the wall," before both Ms. Chandler and Donnell entered the apartment, where Ms. Chandler threatened to kill Mr. Watts. 11/1 Tr. 37-38. The government then impeached Ms. Joher with a prior inconsistent statement that Ms. Chandler had threatened to "beat up" Mr. Watts, not kill him. 11/1 Tr. 38. Ms. Joher testified that Donnell "grabbed [Mr. Watts] from his feet all the way outside in the hallway" and was "hitting" Mr. Watts and "punching him in the leg." 11/1 Tr. 39. After "com[ing] out from the apartment," Ms. Chandler was "hitting [Mr. Watts] on the head and the shoulders, his whole body"—" giving him a fist." 11/1 Tr. 40. Donnell then threatened to kill Mr. Watts, "[a]nd then [Donnell] said, 'Bam, bam,' you know," and shot [Mr. Watts]

²⁴ Ms. Joher testified that she met Donnell "next to the trash can" when Mr. Watts "was naked outside." 11/1 Tr. 35. Mr. Watts was naked outside because "basically, he had PCP whole day. Like, six or seven… dips, you know." 11/1 Tr. 36-37.

five times in the leg," before Donnell and Ms. Chandler "r[a]n away." 11/1 Tr. 41.

Ms. Joher's testimony that she spoke with police at the station on the night of the incident, contrary to objective evidence known to the government, again prompted the prosecutor to repeatedly ask questions aimed at causing Ms. Joher to realize that she was remembering incorrectly. 11/1 Tr. 41-42. Prior to offering a statement of prior identification, identifying Ms. Chandler and Donnell as having participated in the assault of Mr. Watts, Ms. Joher again provided responses suggesting she misunderstood questions asked by the prosecutor:

Now, during your conversation with the detective with -who you refer to as Allison, did you identify anybody who was involved in the assault?

A Yes.

Q Who did you identify?

A I identify her kids and Aiesha, when she come home from the apartment.

11/1 Tr. 43.

On cross-examination, Ms. Joher denied purchasing or using PCP on March 27, 2023, and her giving internally inconsistent testimony and seeming misapprehension of questions or inability to answer them continued:

Q And you went out to a car with Ms. Chandler? A No, I never went with her in the car.

11/1 Tr. 52 (8-9).

Q And they went out to Ms. Chandler's car with the daiquiris, didn't they?
A I'm sorry?

Q They went outside to Ms. -- do you remember Ms.

Chandler and Darlene taking --

A Yeah.

Q -- daiquiris?

A The -- she went to her car, yes.

Q With Darlene?

A Uh-huh.

Q And they smoked PCP --

A Yes.

Q -- while they drank daiquiris --

A Yes.

Q -- in her car?

A Uh-huh.

Q Right.

And you saw that?

A I did.

Q Right. Because you were there?

A Okay. Yes.

Q Okay. And from the window of the car, you saw Mr.

Watts naked?

A Yes.

11/1 Tr. 60-61.

Q Yeah. Have you ever done PCP, ma'am?

A No.

Q So you don't know how that affects people's time -- relationship to time and space, do you?

A I don't smoke that, sir. I'm sorry. I don't know what you got this from.

. . .

Q So you don't know how PCP affects people's ability to remember time when they're on PCP, do you?

A I don't smoke that. I don't know what you got there from, sir.

11/2 Tr. 54-55.

Q I'm touching the top of my head now. Would you consider this to be face?

A Yes.

Q Up here?

A Uh-huh.

Q Where my hair is?

A Yep.

Q That would be part of my face?

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