#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

\_\_\_\_\_

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CF-184

Appellant,

Received 04/22/2025 01:52 PM Filed 04/22/2025 01:52 PM

TIAQUANA CHANDLER,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

\_\_\_\_

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR. United States Attorney

- CHRISELLEN R. KOLB

  \* MICHAEL E. MCGOVERN
  D.C. Bar #1018476
  Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Michael.McGovern2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CF3-1910

#

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

determination made without voir dire of 18-year-old who "attended a special education school" for "slow learners" even though testimony was "plagued with inconsistencies" where witness "never equivocated that a robbery had in fact occurred" and defendant "was one of the participants"). This is particularly true given that Joher testified in English – her second language – and it was reasonable to expect moments of confusion or inconsistency.<sup>8</sup> Indeed, the immateriality of any alleged testimonial deficiencies is supported by the fact Chandler failed to reraise her competency challenge following Joher's testimony. See Barrera, 599 A.2d at 1126 ("There is no indication of record that defense counsel specifically requested the court to reconsider Milton's competency during trial.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Joher was multilingual (speaking Arabic, French, English, Afghani, and "a little bit Spanish") and English was her second language (11/1/23 Tr. 20-21). To the extent Chandler implies (at 36 n.70) that the government should have requested an interpreter for Joher – a request Chandler herself did not make – the record shows that Joher's proficiency in English was such that "the crucial elements of h[er] testimony were quite understandable," and it was therefore not error to take her testimony without the aid of an interpreter. See In re Q.L.J., 458 A.2d 30, 31-32 (D.C. 1982).

Rather than directly challenging Joher's competency on appeal, Chandler argues instead (at 39-42) that the trial court reversibly erred by failing to make further inquiry into Joher's competency before she testified either through voir dire or issuance of a subpoena for facility records. This claim, however, fails. The manner of evaluating competency is entrusted to the broad discretion of the trial court. See Smith, 414 A.2d at 1198. Here, the trial court appropriately responded to defense counsel's competency challenge by gathering additional information from counsel about Joher's present state of mind, prior testimony in the grand jury (including her demonstrated ability to understand and respond to questioning), and the nature of her housing in a voluntary "crisis rehabilitation facility" (see 11/1/23 Tr. 12).

When the court asked Chandler to identify why a competency voir dire was necessary given Joher's prior grand-jury testimony, Chandler pointed to Joher's Down's syndrome and borderline intellectual disability (11/1/23 Tr. 12-13). Chandler, however, conceded she could not articulate how these diagnoses "could impact [Joher's] competence to testify" (*id.*). Absent information about how these conditions could affect Joher's capacity to observe, remember, narrate, or understand her duty to tell

the truth, Chandler's proffer failed to identify any red flag of material impact upon Joher's competency necessitating further inquiry by the trial court. See United States v. George, 532 F.3d 933, 936-37 (D.C. Cir. 2008) ("The days are long past when any mental illness was presumed to undermine a witness's competence to testify. . . . [S]ome indication is needed that a particular witness's medical history throws some doubt on the witness's competency or credibility."); see also Hammon, 965 A.2d at 104 n.14 ("[T]he fact that [witness] was in a 'treatment center' did not inherently suggest a 'red flag'" requiring further investigation); Barrera, 599 A.2d at 1127 ("Simply because a child is classified for educational purposes as developmentally delayed does not mean he or she is likely to be incompetent to testify."). The trial court also correctly dismissed Chandler's arguments that allegedly inconsistent portions of Joher's grand-jury testimony required a competency voir dire, finding those issues more appropriate subjects for credibility cross-examination (11/1/23 Tr. 15-17). See Barrera, 599 A.2d at 1126 ("Although competency and credibility are related, the former concerns basic, prerequisite capabilities necessary to give testimony, whereas the latter is largely a

concern of the factfinders—to decide whom and what to believe.") (quoting *Vereen*, 587 A.2d at 458).

The trial court's subsequent denial of Chandler's request to subpoena records from Joher's residential facility was also not an abuse of discretion. Chandler had the burden to show that his request for facility records was not merely a "fishing expedition." See Jones, 293 A.3d at 403. But, as noted above, Chandler failed to show that Joher's conditions had any bearing on her testimonial competence. See George, 532 F.3d at 936-37; *Hammon*, 965 A.2d at 104 n.14; *Barrera*, 599 A.2d at 1126-27. Moreover, even assuming Joher's conditions were relevant to competency, Chandler failed to show that the facility in which Joher was staying would have any records relating to them. Rather, the government's proffer tied Joher's voluntary residence in the facility to her "homelessness" and prior instances of "domestic violence" and "substance abuse," noting that the facility had not diagnosed Joher's conditions (see 11/1/23 Tr. 9-10). Because Chandler could only speculate that facility records would have contained relevant information, the trial court did not err in denying the request. See Jones, 293 A.3d at 403 (proffer for subpoena insufficient where motion "stated no basis for believing that [witness's] school records would reflect a history of lying"); *Tyer*, 912 A.2d at 1157 (proffer witness attended "school for students with learning disabilities" insufficient to support request for school records); *Barrera*, 599 A.2d at 1126-27 ("vague references" to "inappropriate behavior" insufficient to support request for "special education" records); *Hammon*, 695 A.2d at 104 (request for review of records unsupported by mere allegation juvenile was sent to "treatment center").

Chandler's reliance (at 39-42) on Vereen and McCray v. United States, 133 A.3d 205 (D.C. 2016), is misplaced. In Vereen, the trial court was confronted with a last-minute rebuttal witness who was being treated for schizophrenia and displayed ongoing symptomatic manifestations of her condition at trial, "freely acknowledged[ing] that she presently had premonitions and saw 'vapors'—florescent auras—that appeared over peoples' heads." Vereen, 587 A.2d at 457. Although the trial court conducted a competency voir dire, this Court reversed, finding that the trial court (who had not heard from an expert or permitted defense counsel access to the witness's medical records prior to voir dire) had not adequately explored whether the witness's "ongoing manifestations of mental illness" bore on her "perception, recollection, or ability to

distinguish fact from unreality." *Id.* at 458. Unlike the witness in *Vereen*, however, Joher did not exhibit any ongoing manifestations of intellectual disability at trial that required the court to further explore their effect on her perception, recollection, or ability to distinguish fact from fiction. Thus, the trial court's inquiry was sufficient to address the concerns raised by Chandler.

In McCray, a government witness entered a plea after opening statements and agreed to testify against his former co-defendants. 133 A.3d at 231. The witness had a diagnosis for bipolar disorder and had recently been involved in an incident in which he "threw feces and urine at a guard." Id. at 233. Defense counsel did not challenge the witness's competency but requested a brief continuance to hire an expert to advise on the potential impact the witness's bipolar disorder may have had on his credibility. Id. at 231-32. The trial court denied the request. Id. This Court remanded for further factual development, finding that defense counsel was "entitled to an opportunity to show what an expert might contribute" to the question of the witness's credibility. Id. at 234. McCray is distinguishable from this case, however, because it did not concern witness competency. See id. at 231-34. Further, unlike the witness in

*McCray*, Joher did not exhibit any recent, bizarre conduct that was arguably attributable to a mental-health condition. *See id.* Finally, Chandler never sought permission to hire an expert to advise on the potential impact of Joher's conditions on her competence. Nor did Chandler request a continuance to permit her to do so. <sup>9</sup> Given the record in this case, Judge Staples did not face the circumstances presented in *McCray*.

Even assuming the trial court should have conducted a voir dire prior to Joher's testimony, any error was harmless. As discussed above, Joher's testimony does not reveal any "unmistakable evidence" that the trial court clearly erred in finding that she was competent. *Smith*, 414 A.2d at 1198 ("[T]he trial court's decision as to competency will be sustained even when it proceeds without a voir dire where the transcript

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Given Chandler's failure to seek further time or resources to explore the nexus between Joher's conditions and her competence (other than a request to go on a fishing expedition through Joher's facility records), Chandler's allegation that the trial court "fail[ed] to permit inquiry" into Joher's competence (Br. 39) is not supported by the record. This is particularly true where Judge Staples invited Chandler to revisit the matter if needed (see 11/1/23 Tr. 17-18).

reveals intelligible comprehension [by the witness] in terms of answering the questions that were asked.").

# 2. The Trial Court Did Not Restrict Cross-Examination of Joher with Respect to Her Intellectual Capacity.

Chandler's Sixth Amendment claim (at 34-37) that the trial court precluded cross-examination exploring the effect of Joher's mental conditions on her credibility is squarely contradicted by the record. The court did not limit the subjects Chandler could explore regarding Joher's mental conditions or their relationship to her credibility. Rather, the trial court made clear that Chandler was free to cross-examine Joher on her mental conditions, inconsistencies in her grand-jury testimony (which Chandler asserted called into question her competence), her stay at the crisis facility, and the effects of any treatment on her perception (11/1/23) Tr. 14-17). The trial court also agreed to reconsider any subpoena request for facility records "if there [was] more information to be uncovered" (id. at 17-18). Indeed, the trial court sustained only one objection during cross-examination when Joher was asked to speculate about the motives of another person (see id. at 50-63). Despite the trial court's broad allowance for cross-examination, Chandler strategically chose not to ask about Joher's mental conditions; how they affected her perception, memory, or understanding; her residence in the crisis facility; or any treatment she may have been receiving (id.). The record therefore clearly shows that the trial court did not restrict cross-examination, let alone do so in a way that violated the Sixth Amendment.

On appeal, Chandler now argues (at 32-37) that his right to cross-examine Joher was effectively curtailed by (1) the trial court's denial of his request for a subpoena and (2) his inability to present a witness "to explain [Joher's] conditions." The second of these claims is easily resolved: At no time did the trial court preclude Chandler from engaging an expert to advise on the effects of Joher's conditions on her competence or credibility – Chandler simply did not make this request. *Cf. McCray*, 133 A.3d at 231, 233-34 (error to deny *affirmative defense request* for time to explore impact of mental illness on witness's credibility).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Chandler's claim (at 35-36) that she had no ability to put Joher's conditions before the jury ignores that she could have asked Joher herself about them or could have subpoenaed the crisis-facility staff with whom defense counsel had spoken on the morning of her testimony. See 11/1/23 Tr. 13 (defense counsel's representations regarding discussion about Joher's conditions with non-clinical, residential-facility staff).

Chandler's cross-examination claim therefore boils down to her allegation that the trial court erred when it denied her subpoena request (see Br. 35). Chandler, however, never argued in the trial court that her request for a subpoena was necessary to permit adequate crossexamination on Joher's credibility. Her request for a subpoena was couched squarely within the parties' discussion about Joher's competency (see 11/1/23 Tr. 5-18). Having failed to sufficiently proffer her *credibility* theory in connection with the subpoena request, see Barrera, 599 A.2d at 1126 (distinguishing between competency and credibility), Chandler's claim should be reviewed only for plain error. See Austin v. United States, 64 A.3d 413, 420 (D.C. 2013) (reviewing curtailment of cross-examination claim for plain error where "appellant made no argument, proffer, inquiry, or objection that would have suggested to the trial court the [relevance] theories he now advances"). Under that standard, appellant must show (1) error that (2) is plain, (3) affected substantial rights, and (4) resulted in a miscarriage of justice or seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings. United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732-37 (1993).

Chandler cannot show error, let alone plain error, in the trial court's denial of her subpoena request. As discussed above, supra pp. 22-25, Chandler did not make an adequate proffer that (1) Joher's mental conditions were relevant to credibility and (2) facility records would contain relevant information about these conditions. The trial court therefore did not abuse its discretion when it denied Chandler's request as a fishing expedition (11/1/23 Tr. 17). See Jones, 293 A.3d at 403 (vague proffer as to how contents of records would undermine witness credibility did not support "compelling and detailed demonstration of need" required to subpoena school records) (quoting Barerra, 599 A.2d at 1126).

Even assuming error, the denial of Chandler's request for a subpoena was harmless under any standard. 11 Chandler's cross-

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Because the trial court permitted broad cross-examination into Joher's mental conditions, Chandler was able to "expose to the jury the facts from which jurors could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness," thereby "permit[ing] sufficient cross-examination to meet the requirements of the Sixth Amendment," See In re J.W., 258 A.3d 195, 202 (D.C. 2021) (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)). Thus, if this Court does not apply plain error, Chandler's claims should be reviewed for abuse of discretion, requiring a showing of prejudice. See Velasquez, 801 A.2d at 78-79; Haney v. United States, 41 A.3d 1227, 1231 n.25 (D.C. 2012) ("In this jurisdiction . . . we understand 'abuse of discretion' to include not only error but also a finding that the error is "of a magnitude to require reversal."). Even (continued . . . )

examination of Joher was effective at casting substantial doubt on her reliability as a witness without defense counsel even arguing it in closing (see 11/2/23 Tr. 120-26). The jury's verdict clearly shows that they rejected any uncorroborated fact to which Joher was the sole witness. For example, Joher alone testified that Chandler and her son entered the apartment and dragged Watts into the hallway to beat him (see 11/1/23 Tr. 38-39). The jury, however, rejected those facts as supporting overt acts in their verdict on the conspiracy charge and acquitted Chandler on the burglary charge (11/2/23 Tr. 148; 11/6/23 Tr. 46-47). Joher was also the sole witness to testify that Chandler's son threatened to kill Watts in front of his mother, and the jury rejected that fact as an overt act supporting the conspiracy charge (see 11/1/23 Tr. 38; 11/2/23 Tr. 148; 11/6/23 Tr. 46). In contrast, the charges and overt acts on which the jury convicted were supported by Joher's testimony and other evidence, such as the contemporary identification procedures, Watts's testimony, Chandler's confession and jail calls, and surveillance video. Chandler's ability to cast further doubt on Joher's reliability would therefore have

assuming a violation of the Sixth Amendment, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

had no effect whatsoever on the jury's assessment of the credibility of Chandler's confession or Watts's testimony about the attack. *In re Wiggins*, 359 A.2d 579, 581-82 (D.C. 1976) (confrontation violation harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where record included confessions to conduct constituting crime).

# II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Denied Chandler's Request to Drug Test Watts.

### A. Additional Background

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